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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of
historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may be forward-looking statements. Statements regarding our
future results of operations and financial position, business strategy and plans and objectives of management for future operations,
including, among others, statements regarding future capital expenditures and debt service obligations, are forward-looking
statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “targets,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or
“continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause
our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We believe that these factors include, but are not limited to, the following:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

the initiation, timing, progress and results of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, and our research and
development programs;
our ability to advance product candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical trials;
our reliance on the success of our product candidates;
the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals;
our ability to expand our sales and marketing capabilities;
the commercialization of our product candidates, if approved;
the pricing and reimbursement of our product candidates, if approved;
the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business, product candidates and technology;
the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our product
candidates and technology;
our ability to operate our business without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the intellectual
property rights and proprietary technology of third parties;
cost associated with defending or enforcing, if any, intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or
other intellectual property violation, product liability and other claims;
regulatory and governmental policy developments in the United States, Europe and other jurisdictions;
estimates of our expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing;
the potential benefits of strategic collaboration agreements and our ability to enter into strategic arrangements;
our ability to maintain and establish collaborations or obtain additional grant funding;
the rate and degree of market acceptance, if any, of our product candidates, if approved;
developments relating to our competitors and our industry, including competing therapies;
our ability to effectively manage our anticipated growth;
our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel;
our ability to achieve cost savings and benefits from our efforts to streamline our operations and to not harm our
business with such efforts;
our expectations regarding the period during which we qualify as an emerging growth company under the Jumpstart
Our Business Startups Act (JOBS Act);
statements regarding future revenue, hiring plans, expenses, capital expenditures, capital requirements and share
performance;
litigation, including costs associated with prosecuting or defending pending or threatened claims and any adverse
outcomes or settlements not covered by insurance;
our expected use of cash and cash equivalents and other sources of liquidity;
our ability to amend or refinance the 2015 Credit Agreement due July 1, 2020;
the future trading price of the shares of our common stock and impact of securities analysts’ reports on these prices;
the future trading price of our investments and our potential inability to sell those securities;
our ability to apply unused federal and state net operating loss carryforwards against future taxable income; and
other risks and uncertainties, including those listed under the caption “Risk Factors.”

The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are only predictions, and we may not actually
achieve the plans, intentions or expectations included in our forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking
statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Because forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and
uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified, you should not rely on these forward-looking statements as
predictions of future events. The events and circumstances reflected in our forward-looking statements may not be achieved or
occur and actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Kadmon Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated balance sheets
(in thousands, except share amounts)

March 31,

December 31,

2019

2018

(unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable, net

99,358

$

1,501

Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Fixed assets, net
Right of use lease asset
Goodwill
Restricted cash
Investment, equity securities
Investment, at cost
$

Total assets

94,740
1,690

936

925

1,969

1,581

103,764

98,936

3,566

3,654

22,006

—

3,580

3,580

2,116

2,116

60,903

34,075

2,300
198,235

$

8,657

$

2,300
144,661

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

$

Accrued expenses

11,280

Lease liability - current
Fair market value of financial instruments
Secured term debt – current
Total current liabilities
Lease liability - noncurrent
Deferred rent
Deferred tax liability
Other long term liabilities
Secured term debt – net of current portion and discount
Total liabilities

9,986
13,508

3,742

—

748

524

2,250

—

26,677

24,018

22,610

—

—

4,290

415

415

—

47

25,325

27,480

75,027

56,250

42,746

42,231

127

113

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15 and 16)
Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018; 30,000 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018
Common Stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2019 and December
31, 2018; 126,909,522 and 113,130,817 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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346,901

315,710

(266,566)

(269,643)

123,208
198,235

$

88,411
144,661
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Kadmon Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated statements of operations (unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Revenues
Net sales
Other revenue
Total revenue
Cost of sales
Write-down of inventory
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other (income) expense:
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Loss on equity method investment
Unrealized gain on equity securities
Other expense
Total other (income) expense
Income (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)
Deemed dividend on convertible preferred stock
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

$

$
$
$
$

Basic net income (loss) per share of common stock
Diluted net income (loss) per share of common stock
Weighted average basic shares of common stock outstanding
Weighted average diluted shares of common stock outstanding

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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2018

67
174
241
31
—
210

$

274
159
433
199
147
87

14,991
7,946
22,937
(22,727)

9,780
8,250
18,030
(17,943)

(656)
932
224
—
(26,828)
9
(26,319)
3,592
—
3,592 $
515
3,077 $

(69)
1,465
(141)
1,242
—
1
2,498
(20,441)
—
(20,441)
490
(20,931)

0.02
0.02
126,330,788
126,406,039

$
$

(0.27)
(0.27)
78,650,143
78,650,143
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Kadmon Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity (unaudited)
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Preferred stock
Shares

Amount

30,000

Balance, December 31, 2017

$

Additional
paid-in

Common stock
Shares

Amount

40,220

78,643,954

$

79

Accumulated

capital
$

Deficit

198,856

$

Total

(237,397)

$

1,758

Share-based compensation expense

—

—

—

—

2,572

—

Common stock issued for warrant exercises
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
- ASC 606 adoption
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible
preferred stock
Accretion of dividends on convertible preferred
stock

—

—

8,195

—

26

—

26

—

—

—

—

—

24,017

24,017

—

98

—

—

—

(98)

—

—

392

—

—

—

(392)

—

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

(20,441)

(20,441)

40,710

78,652,149

Share-based compensation expense

—

—

—

—

3,023

—

3,023

Common stock issued in public offering, net

—

—

34,303,030

34

105,727

—

105,761

Common stock issued for warrant exercises

—

—

123,639

—

562

—

562

Common stock issued under ESPP plan
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible
preferred stock
Accretion of dividends on convertible preferred
stock

—

—

22,958

—

65

—

65

—

98

—

—

—

(98)

—

—

393

—

—

—

(393)

—

Net income

—

—

—

—

—

21,505

21,505

Balance, March 31, 2018

30,000

—

2,833

—

103

—

—

—

(103)

—

—

412

—

—

—

(412)

—

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

(13,799)

(13,799)

41,716

113,101,776

—

—

—

—

1,963

—

1,963

Common stock issued under ESPP plan
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible
preferred stock
Accretion of dividends on convertible preferred
stock

—

—

29,041

—

83

—

83

—

103

—

—

—

(103)

—

—

412

—

—

—

(412)

—

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

(41,517)

(41,517)

42,231

113,130,817

—

—

—

—

2,156

—

2,156

Common stock issued in public offering, net
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible
preferred stock
Accretion of dividends on convertible preferred
stock

—

—

13,778,705

14

29,035

—

29,049

—

103

—

—

—

(103)

—

—

412

—

—

—

(412)

—

Net income

—

—

—

—

—

3,592

3,592

42,746

126,909,522

Balance, March 31, 2019

30,000

$

$

$

$

113

127

$

$

315,710

346,901

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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$

$

(269,643)

(266,566)

$

127,882

Share-based compensation expense

Balance, December 31, 2018

30,000

$

138,848

Share-based compensation expense

Balance, September 30, 2018

(227,611)

$

7,932

2,833

$

(213,297)

$

—

313,664

$

(234,311)

—

$

310,831

$

113,101,776

113

$

201,454

—

$

113

$

41,201

$

$

79

—

30,000

$

$

Share-based compensation expense
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible
preferred stock
Accretion of dividends on convertible preferred
stock

Balance, June 30, 2018

30,000

$

2,572

$

88,411

123,208
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Kadmon Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated statements of cash flows (unaudited)
(in thousands)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets
Amortization of right of use lease asset
Write-down of inventory
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of debt discount
Amortization of debt premium
Share-based compensation
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Loss on equity method investment
Unrealized gain on equity securities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Lease liability
Accrued expenses, other liabilities and deferred rent
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of fixed assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net
Principal payments on secured term debt
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

$

Components of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

2018

3,592

$

467
818
—
—
95
—
2,156
224
—
(26,828)

349
—
147
127
575
(188)
2,572
(141)
1,242
—

189
(11)
(388)
(1,311)
(908)
(2,228)
(24,133)

643
(412)
(424)
285
—
(1,443)
(17,109)

(298)
(298)

(127)
(127)

29,049
—
—
29,049
4,618
96,856
101,474

—
(1,140)
26
(1,114)
(18,350)
69,633
51,283

$

99,358
2,116
101,474

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible preferred stock
Accretion of dividends on convertible preferred stock
Unpaid fixed asset additions
Operating lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle - ASC 842 adoption
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle - ASC 606 adoption

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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(20,441)

836
103
412
81
31
27,083
—

49,167
2,116
51,283

$

961
98
392
—
—
—
24,017
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Kadmon Holdings, Inc.
Notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited)
1. Organization
Nature of Business
Kadmon Holdings, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “Kadmon” or “Company”) is a fully integrated biopharmaceutical
company engaged in the discovery, development and commercialization of small molecules and biologics to address disease areas
of significant unmet medical needs, with a near-term clinical focus on inflammatory and fibrotic diseases as well as immunooncology. The Company leverages its multi-disciplinary research and clinical development team members to identify and pursue a
diverse portfolio of novel product candidates, both through in-licensing products and employing its small molecule and biologics
platforms. By retaining global commercial rights to its lead product candidates, the Company believes that it has the ability to
develop these candidates while maintaining flexibility for commercial and licensing arrangements. The Company expects to
continue to progress its clinical candidates and have further clinical trial events throughout 2019.
Liquidity
The Company maintained cash and cash equivalents of $99.4 million at March 31, 2019. The Company had an
accumulated deficit of $266.6 million and working capital of $77.1 million at March 31, 2019. The Company entered into a Sales
Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. in August 2017 under which the Company may sell up to $40.0 million in shares of its
common stock in one or more placements at prevailing market prices for its common stock (the “ATM Offering”). Any such sales
would be effected pursuant to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-222364), declared effective by the
Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on January 10, 2018. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had not sold any shares
of common stock under the ATM Offering. In January 2019, the Company sold 13,778,705 shares of common stock at a weighted
average price of $2.17 per share through the ATM Offering and received total gross proceeds of $29.9 million ($29.0 million net of
$0.9 million of commissions payable by the Company). In April 2019, the Company sold 2,538,100 shares of common stock at a
price of $2.70 per share through the ATM Offering and received total gross proceeds of $6.9 million ($6.7 million net of $0.2
million of commissions payable by the Company) (Note 19). The Company’s existing cash and cash equivalents are expected to
enable it to advance its planned Phase 2 clinical studies for KD025 and advance certain of its other pipeline product candidates and
provide for other working capital purposes.
Management’s plans include continuing to finance operations through the issuance of additional equity securities and
expanding the commercial portfolio through the development of the current pipeline or through strategic collaborations. Any
transactions which occur may contain covenants that restrict the ability of management to operate the business or may have rights,
preferences or privileges senior to the Company’s common stock and may dilute current stockholders of the Company.
Going Concern
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“GAAP”), which contemplate continuation of the Company as a going concern. The Company
has not established a source of revenues sufficient to cover its operating costs, and as such, has been dependent on funding
operations through the issuance of debt and sale of equity securities. Since inception, the Company has experienced significant
loses and incurred negative cash flows from operations. The Company expects to incur further losses over the next several years as
it develops its business. The Company has spent, and expects to continue to spend, a substantial amount of funds in connection
with implementing its business strategy, including its planned product development efforts, preparation for its planned clinical
trials, performance of clinical trials and its research and discovery efforts.
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are not expected to be sufficient to enable the Company to meet its long-term
expected plans, including commercialization of clinical pipeline products, if approved, or initiation or completion of future
registrational studies. The Company has no commitments for any additional financing and may not be successful in its efforts to
raise additional funds or achieve profitable operations, and there can be no assurance that additional financing will be available to
the Company on commercially acceptable terms or at all. Any amounts raised will be used for further development of the
Company’s product candidates, for marketing and promotion, to secure additional property and equipment and for other working
capital purposes.
8
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If the Company is unable to obtain additional capital, its long-term business plan may not be accomplished and the
Company may be forced to curtail or cease operations. Further, the 2015 Credit Agreement contains certain developmental
milestones that must be achieved by December 31, 2019, which are considered to be outside of the Company’s control, as well as a
minimum liquidity covenant. As such, if achievement of the developmental milestones does not occur as anticipated by December
31, 2019 or the Company violates its minimum liquidity covenant, the Company may need to use cash and cash equivalents to
fund certain repayment commitments, as any such non-compliance could, under the remedies set forth in the 2015 Credit
Agreement, trigger a termination of the Commitments (as defined in the 2015 Credit Agreement) or a declaration by the Lender
that the Loan (as defined in the 2015 Credit Agreement) be due and payable in whole or part, together with any applicable fees
and/or interest thereon. These factors individually and collectively continue to raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments or classifications that may
result from the possible inability of the Company to continue as a going concern.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The Company operates in one segment considering the nature of the Company’s products and services, class of
customers, methods used to distribute the products and the regulatory environment in which the Company operates.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with GAAP. The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of Kadmon Holdings, Inc. and its domestic and international subsidiaries, all of which are
wholly owned.
Interim Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP for interim financial information
and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information
and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In our opinion the financial
statements include all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary in order to make the financial statements not
misleading. Operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the final results that may
be expected for the year ended December 31, 2019. These unaudited financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
audited financial statements included in Item 8 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2018.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Critical Accounting Policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in the audited financial statements included in Item 8 of the
Annual Report on Form 10-K as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018. Since the date of such financial statements, there
have been no changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies, other than those described below.
9

Table of Contents
Accounting for Leases
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
No. 2016 02, “Leases” (“ASC 842”) to enhance the transparency and comparability of financial reporting related to leasing
arrangements. Under this new lease standard, most leases are required to be recognized on the balance sheet as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities. Disclosure requirements have been enhanced with the objective of enabling financial statement users to assess
the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. Prior to January 1, 2019, GAAP did not require lessees to
recognize assets and liabilities related to operating leases on the balance sheet. The new standard establishes a right-of-use model
(“ROU”) that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU asset and corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with a
term longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and
classification of expense recognition in the income statement as well as the reduction of the right of use asset. The Company has
adopted the standard effective January 1, 2019 and has chosen to use the effective date as our date of initial application.
Consequently, financial information will not be updated and the disclosures required under the new standard will not be provided
for dates and periods prior to January 1, 2019. The new standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition.
The Company has elected to apply the ‘package of practical expedients’ which allow us to not reassess (i) whether existing or
expired arrangements contain a lease, (ii) the lease classification of existing or expired leases, or (iii) whether previous initial direct
costs would qualify for capitalization under the new lease standard. The Company has also elected to apply (i) the practical
expedient which allows us to not separate lease and non-lease components, for new leases entered into after adoption and (ii) the
short-term lease exemption for all leases with an original term of less than 12 months, for purposes of applying the recognition and
measurements requirements in the new standard. In preparation for adoption of the standard, the Company implemented internal
controls to enable the preparation of financial information including the assessment of the impact of the standard. For the impact to
the Company’s consolidated financial statement upon adoption of the new leasing standard, see Note 8 to our unaudited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
At the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on
specific facts and circumstances, the existence of an identified asset(s), if any, and the Company’s control over the use of the
identified asset(s), if applicable. Operating lease liabilities and their corresponding right-of-use assets are recorded based on the
present value of future lease payments over the expected lease term. The interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not
readily determinable. As such, the Company will utilize the incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate incurred to borrow on a
collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. As of the ASC
842 effective date, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate ranges from approximately 4.0%-5.6% based on the remaining lease
term of the applicable leases.
The Company has elected to combine lease and non-lease components as a single component. Operating leases are
recognized on the balance sheet as ROU lease assets, lease liabilities current and lease liabilities non-current. Fixed rents are
included in the calculation of the lease balances while variable costs paid for certain operating and pass-through costs are excluded.
Lease expense is recognized over the expected term on a straight-line basis.
Revenue Recognition
The Company adopted FASB ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), on January 1, 2018 using
the modified retrospective method for all contracts not completed as of the date of adoption– i.e. by recognizing the cumulative
effect of initially applying ASC 606 as an adjustment to the opening balance of stockholders equity at January 1, 2018. The
Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, the core principle of which is that an entity should recognize revenue
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve this core principle, five basic criteria must be
met before revenue can be recognized: (1) identify the contract with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the
contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract; and (5)
recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation.
10
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Disaggregation of Revenue
The following table summarizes revenue from contracts with customers for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2018:

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

March 31, 2019

Product sales
Other revenue
Total revenue

$
$

March 31, 2018

67
174
241

$
$

274
159
433

Product Sales
The Company markets and distributes a portfolio of products, including ribavirin and tetrabenazine. These contracts
typically include a single promise to deliver a fixed amount of product to the customer with payment due within 30 days of
shipment. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods is transferred to the customer, in an amount that reflects
the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods.
As is typical in the pharmaceutical industry, gross product sales are subject to a variety of deductions, primarily
representing rebates, chargebacks, returns, and discounts to government agencies, wholesalers, and managed care organizations.
These deductions represent management’s best estimates of the related reserves and, as such, judgment is required when estimating
the impact of these sales deductions on gross sales for a reporting period. If estimates are not representative of the actual future
settlement, results could be materially affected.
Other Revenue
The other revenue generated by the Company is primarily related to a transition services agreement and sublease
agreement with MeiraGTx Holdings plc (“MeiraGTx”) (Note 11). The Company performed various professional services under a
transition services agreement (“TSA”) that supported MeiraGTx until the expiration of the agreement in April 2018. The Company
continues to provide office space to MeiraGTx under a sublease agreement. The Company recognizes revenue related to transition
services and sublease agreements as they are performed.
Contract Balances
The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. Accounts receivable are recorded
at the invoiced amount, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. A receivable is recognized in the period we deliver goods or
provide services or when our right to consideration is unconditional. The Company has not recognized any assets for costs to
obtain or fulfill a contract with a customer as of March 31, 2019.
Transaction Price Allocated to Future Performance Obligations
ASC 606 requires that the Company disclose the aggregate amount of transaction price that is allocated to performance
obligations that have not yet been satisfied as of March 31, 2019. The guidance provides certain practical expedients that limit this
requirement. The Company has various contracts that meet the following practical expedients provided by ASC 606:
1. The performance obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less.
2. Revenue is recognized from the satisfaction of the performance obligations in the amount billable to the customer.
3. The variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligation or to a wholly
unsatisfied promise to transfer a distinct good or service that forms part of a single performance obligation.
The Company does not have any performance obligations that have not yet been satisfied as of March 31, 2019 and therefore there
is no transaction price allocated to future performance obligations under ASC 606.
11
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, “Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808): Clarifying the
Interaction Between Topic 808 and Topic 606”, which requires transactions in collaborative arrangements to be accounted for
under ASC 606 if the counterparty is a customer for a good or service (or bundle of goods and services) that is a distinct unit of
account. The amendments also preclude entities from presenting consideration from transactions with a collaborator that is not a
customer together with revenue recognized from contracts with customers. The ASU is effective for annual or interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for entities that have adopted ASC 606. The Company is
evaluating the impact of adopting this standard.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software
(Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a
Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force)”, which requires customers in a cloud computing
arrangement that is a service contract to follow the internal-use software guidance in Accounting Standards Codification 350-40 to
determine which implementation costs to capitalize as assets. This ASU is effective for annual or any interim periods beginning
after December 15, 2019. The Company does not expect the standard to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial
statements, as the Company’s cloud computing contracts are not material.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, “Compensation – Stock Compensation”, which expands the scope of
Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees, except for specific
exceptions. This ASU is effective for annual or any interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company adopted
this standard on January 1, 2019, which did not have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements as the fair value
of the Company’s awards to nonemployees is immaterial.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other”, which simplifies the
subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating “Step 2” from the goodwill impairment test. Instead of performing Step 2 to
determine the amount of an impairment charge, the fair value of a reporting unit will be compared with its carrying amount and an
impairment charge will be recognized for the value by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. ASU
2017-04 is effective for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early
adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The
Company does not expect the standard to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.
3. Stockholders’ Equity
5% Convertible Preferred Stock
The Company had 30,000 shares of 5% convertible preferred stock outstanding at March 31, 2019, which converts into
shares of the Company’s common stock at a 20% discount to the price per share of common stock in the Company’s initial public
offering (“IPO”) of $12.00 per share. The Company accrued dividends on the 5% convertible preferred stock of $0.4 million
during each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company calculated a deemed dividend of $0.1 million on
the $0.4 million of accrued dividends during each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, which is a beneficial
conversion feature. The stated liquidation preference amount on the 5% convertible preferred stock totaled $33.0 million at
March 31, 2019.
Common Stock
The Company’s certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 200,000,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock, par value $0.001 per share.
12
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4. Net Income (Loss) per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
Basic net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss)
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Shares issued
during the period are weighted for the portion of the period that they were outstanding. Because the Company has reported a net
loss for the three months ended March 31, 2018, diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share
for that period. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, diluted net income per share is calculated in a manner consistent with
that of basic net income per share while giving effect to all potentially dilutive common shares that were outstanding during the
period. The following table summarizes the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders of the Company (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Numerator – basic and diluted:
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders - basic and
diluted

$

Denominator – basic and diluted:
Weighted average common shares outstanding used to compute
basic net income (loss) per share
Effect of dilution:
Options to purchase common stock
Weighted average common shares outstanding used to compute
diluted net income (loss) per share
Net income (loss) per share, basic
Net income (loss) per share, diluted

2018

3,077

$

(20,931)

126,330,788

78,650,143

75,251

—

126,406,039

78,650,143

$
$

0.02
0.02

$
$

(0.27)
(0.27)

The amounts in the table below were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share, due to their
anti-dilutive effect:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Options to purchase common stock
Warrants to purchase common stock
Convertible preferred stock
Total shares of common stock equivalents

2018

8,816,778
11,999,852
3,562,221
24,378,851

8,374,489
14,713,790
3,392,592
26,480,871

5. Debt
The Company is a party to one credit agreement in the following amount (in thousands):

Secured term debt due July 1, 2020
Total debt before debt discount
Less: Debt discount
Total debt payable

$

Debt payable, current portion
Debt payable, long-term
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March 31,

December 31,

2019

2018

$

28,046 $
28,046
(471)
27,575 $

28,046
28,046
(566)
27,480

$
$

2,250
25,325

—
27,480

$
$
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Secured Term Debt
August 2015 Secured Term Debt
In August 2015, the Company entered into a secured term loan in the amount of $35.0 million with two lenders (“2015
Credit Agreement”). The interest rate on the loan is LIBOR plus 9.375% with a 1% floor. As of March 31, 2019, there were five
amendments to the 2015 Credit Agreement, which, among other things, have extended the maturity date and due date of principal
payments under the 2015 Credit Agreement, repaid all amounts due to one of the lenders, revised terms of certain warrants issued
in connection with the 2015 Credit Agreement (Note 6), and amended certain covenants, including adding non-financial
developmental milestones which must be met by December 31, 2019. As amended, the basic terms of the loan require monthly
payments of interest only through December 31, 2019, with principal payments in the amount of $750,000 payable monthly
beginning on January 31, 2020. Any outstanding balance of the loan and accrued interest is to be repaid on July 1, 2020, the
maturity date. The secured term loan is collateralized by a first priority perfected security interest in all the tangible and intangible
property of the Company.
The Company entered into a sixth waiver agreement to the 2015 Credit Agreement in March 2019 under which the
lenders under the 2015 Credit Agreement agreed to refrain from exercising certain rights under the 2015 Credit Agreement,
including the declaration of a default and to forbear from acceleration of any repayment rights with respect to existing covenants.
The report and opinion of our independent registered public accounting firm, BDO USA, LLP, for the year ended December 31,
2018 contains an explanatory paragraph regarding our ability to continue as a going concern, which is an event of default under the
2015 Credit Agreement.
The minimum payments required on the outstanding balances of the 2015 Credit Agreement at March 31, 2019 are (in
thousands):

2015 Credit Agreement

2019
2020

$

—
28,046
28,046

$
The following table provides components of interest expense and other related financing costs (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Interest expense and other financing costs
Amortization of deferred financing costs, debt discount and debt premium
Interest expense

$
$

2018

837
95
932

$
$

951
514
1,465

6. Financial Instruments
Equity Issued Pursuant to Credit Agreements
In connection with the 2015 Credit Agreement (Note 5), as fees to the lenders thereunder, the Company issued warrants to
purchase an aggregate of $6.3 million of the Company’s Class A units, which were exchanged for 617,651 warrants with a strike
price of $10.20 per share to purchase the same number of shares of the Company’s common stock upon consummation of the
Company’s IPO in August 2016 (“2015 Warrants”).
As of March 31, 2019, the exercise price of a portion of the 2015 Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 529,413 shares of
the Company’s common stock is $3.30 per warrant share and the exercise price of the remaining 2015 Warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 88,238 shares of the Company’s common stock is $4.50 per warrant share. Since these warrants are exercisable and
are redeemable at the option of the holder upon the occurrence of, and during the continuance of, an event of default, the fair value
of the warrants is recorded as a short-term liability of $0.7 million and $0.5 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively.
14

Table of Contents
The Company used the Black-Scholes pricing model to value the warrant liability at March 31, 2019 with the following
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 2.2%, expected term of 3.4 years, expected volatility of 74.2% and a dividend rate of
0%. The change in fair value of the warrants was $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. None of these instruments have been exercised as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Other Warrants
In connection with the sale of common stock in March 2017, warrants to purchase 2,707,138 shares of common stock
were issued at an exercise price of $4.50 per share. During April 2018, warrants to purchase 119,047 shares of common stock were
exercised for which the Company received proceeds of $0.5 million. The remaining 2,588,091 warrants expired in April 2018.
These warrants included a cash settlement option requiring the Company to record a liability for the fair value of the warrants at
the time of issuance and at each reporting period with any change in the fair value reported as other income or expense. During the
three months ended March 31, 2018, the decline in the fair value of these warrants was $(0.4) million.
Fair Value of Long-term Debt
The Company maintained a long-term secured debt balance of $25.3 million and $27.5 million at March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. As the secured debt becomes due on July 1, 2020 and monthly principal payments of
$750,000 are due starting January 31, 2020, it has been recorded as long-term secured debt at December 31, 2018. At March 31,
2019, $2.3 million of principal payments due in the first quarter of 2020 have been recorded as short-term secured debt and the
remaining balance is recorded as long-term secured debt. The underlying agreements for these balances were negotiated with third
parties on an arms-length basis, at an interest rate which is considered to be in line with over-arching market conditions. Based on
these factors, management considers the carrying value of the debt to approximate fair value at March 31, 2019.
Fair Value Classification
The Company held certain liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value
guidance establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These
tiers include:
· Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
· Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
· Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of the assets or liabilities.
The table below represents the values of the Company’s financial instruments at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018
(in thousands):
Fair Value Measurement Using Significant Other Observable
Inputs (Level 2)
March 31,
Description

December 31,

2019

Warrants
Total

$
$

15

2018

748
748

$
$

524
524
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The table below represents a rollforward of the Level 2 financial instruments from January 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019 (in
thousands):

Significant Other Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

$

Balance at January 1, 2018
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Fair value of warrants modified in the Fifth Amendment
Exercise of warrants recorded as liability
Balance at December 31, 2018
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Balance at March 31, 2019

1,952
(1,525)
111
(14)
524
224
748

$
$

The Level 2 inputs used to value our financial instruments were determined using prices that can be directly observed or
corroborated in active markets. Although the fair value of this obligation is calculated using the observable market price of
Kadmon Holdings Inc. common stock, an active market for this financial instrument does not exist and therefore the Company has
classified the fair value of this liability as a Level 2 liability in the table above.
Warrants Outstanding
The following table summarizes information about warrants outstanding at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Warrants

Balance, December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Balance, March 31, 2019

11,999,852
—
—
—
11,999,852

$

$

5.97
—
—
—
5.97

7. Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (on a first-in, first-out basis) using standard costs.
Standard costs include an allocation of overhead rates, which include those costs attributable to managing the supply chain and are
evaluated regularly. Variances are expensed as incurred.
The Company regularly reviews the expiration dates of its inventories and maintains a reserve for inventories that are
probable to expire before shipment. Inventories recorded on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets are net of a reserve for
expirable inventory of $2.1 million and $2.2 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The Company
expensed inventory that it believes will not be sold prior to reaching its expiration date totaling $0.1 million during March 31,
2018, while no such expense was recorded for the March 31, 2019. If the amount and timing of future sales differ from
management’s assumptions, adjustments to the estimated inventory reserves may be required.
Inventories Produced in Preparation for Product Launches
The Company capitalizes inventories produced in preparation for product launches sufficient to support estimated initial
market demand. Typically, capitalization of such inventory begins when positive results have been obtained for the clinical trials
that the Company believes are necessary to support regulatory approval, uncertainties regarding ultimate regulatory approval have
been significantly reduced and the Company has determined it is probable that these capitalized costs will provide some future
economic benefit in excess of capitalized costs. The material factors considered by the Company in evaluating these uncertainties
include the receipt and analysis of positive clinical trial results for the underlying product candidate, results from meetings with the
relevant regulatory authorities prior to the filing of regulatory applications, and the compilation of the regulatory application. The
Company closely monitors the status of each respective product within the regulatory approval process, including all relevant
communication with regulatory authorities. If the Company is aware of any specific material risks or contingencies other than the
normal regulatory review and approval process or if there are any specific issues identified relating to safety, efficacy,
manufacturing, marketing or labeling, the related inventory would generally not be capitalized.
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For inventories that are capitalized in preparation of product launch, anticipated future sales, expected approval date and
shelf lives are evaluated in assessing realizability. The shelf life of a product is determined as part of the regulatory approval
process; however in evaluating whether to capitalize pre-launch inventory production costs, the Company considers the product
stability data of all of the pre-approval production to date to determine whether there is adequate expected shelf life for the
capitalized pre-launch production costs.
The Company has concluded that KD034, its generic version of trientine hydrochloride, is commercially viable since it is
the chemical equivalent of the original drug approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). The Company has
submitted two ANDAs with the FDA, and economic benefits of the pre-launch inventory recorded at March 31, 2019 are probable.
Accordingly, the pre-launch costs are realizable as the Company expects the inventory will be sold or used prior to expiration. An
assessment of likelihood that regulatory approval will not be obtained will be made at each reporting period. If at any time
regulatory approval is deemed to not be probable, the inventory will be written down to its net realizable value, which is
presumably zero, as the product would have no alternative future use. The Company maintained $0.9 million and $0.9 million of
work-in-process inventory related to KD034 at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
Inventories are comprised of the following (in thousands):

March 31,

December 31,

2019

Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods, net
Total inventories

$

$

2018

—
892
44
936

$

$

—
886
39
925

8. Leases
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 842 using the modified retrospective transition approach allowed under
ASU 2018-11 which releases companies from presenting comparative periods and related disclosures under ASC 842 and requires
a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption (Note 2). The Company is
party to six operating leases for office or laboratory space and three finance leases for office IT equipment. The Company’s
finance leases are immaterial both individually and in the aggregate. The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease
exception to all leases of one year or less. As of March 31, 2019, this exception applies to two operating leases for office space,
which are for a term of one year. Further, the Company has applied the guidance in ASC 842 to our corporate office and laboratory
leases and have determined that these should be classified as operating leases. Consequently, as a result of the adoption of ASC
842, we recognized a ROU lease asset of approximately $22.7 million with a corresponding lease liability of approximately $27.0
million based on the present value of the minimum rental payments of such leases. In accordance with ASC 842, the beginning
balance of the ROU lease asset was reduced by the existing deferred rent liability at inception of approximately $4.3 million. In the
consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2019, the Company has a ROU asset balance of $22.0 million and a current and noncurrent lease liability of $3.7 million and $22.6 million, respectively, relating to the ROU lease asset. The balance of both the ROU
lease asset and the lease liabilities primarily consists of future payments under the Company’s office lease in New York, New
York.
The Company is party to an operating lease in New York, New York for office and laboratory space for its headquarters.
The lease commenced in October 2010 with the initial term set to expire in February 2021 and opened a secured letter of credit
with a third party financial institution in lieu of a security deposit for $2.0 million which is included in restricted cash at March 31,
2019. As of March 31, 2019, there were six amendments to this lease agreement, which altered office and laboratory capacity and
extended the lease term through October 2025, with total lease cost of $1.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
This office lease contains the ability to extend portions of the lease at fair market value but does not have any renewal options.
The Company is party to an operating lease in Warrendale, Pennsylvania (the Company’s specialty-focused commercial
operation). In March 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to this lease which extended the lease term to September 30,
2022, with two five-year renewal options which would extend the term to September 30, 2032, if exercised. Rental payments under
the renewal period would be at market rates determined from the average rentals of similar tenants in the same industrial park. The
option to renew this office lease was not considered when assessing the value of the ROU asset because the Company was not
reasonably certain that it will assert its option to renew the lease. Total lease cost for this lease was $0.2 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2019.
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In August 2015, the Company entered into an operating office lease agreement in Cambridge, Massachusetts (the
Company’s clinical office) effective January 2016 and expiring in April 2023. The Company opened a secured letter of credit with
a third party financial institution in lieu of a security deposit for $0.1 million, which is included in restricted cash at March 31,
2019. The Company is also party to an operating lease for laboratory space in Princeton, NJ, which expires in February 2021.
Neither of these office leases contain any renewal options. Total lease cost for these leases was $0.1 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2019.
Quantitative information regarding the Company’s leases for the three months ended March 31, 2019 is as follows (in
thousands):

Lease Cost
Operating lease cost (a)
Variable lease cost
Sublease income (b)
Net Lease Cost

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019
$
1,168
369
(173)
$
1,364

Classification
SG&A Expenses
SG&A Expenses
Other Revenue

Other Information
Operating cash flows paid for amounts included in the
measurement of lease liabilities
Operating lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-ofuse assets

$

1,150
31

Weighted average remaining lease term (years)
Weighted average discount rate

6.2
4.1%

(a) Includes short-term lease costs and finance lease costs, which are immaterial.
(b) Includes sublease income related to MeiraGTx (Note 11)
Future lease payments under noncancellable leases are as follows (in thousands) at March 31, 2019:
Future Lease Payments
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total Lease Payments
Less: Imputed Interest
Total Lease Liabilities

Operating Leases
$

Finance Leases

$

3,489
4,753
4,861
4,823
4,153
7,732
29,811

$

$

67
48
6
—
—
—
121

$

(3,567)
26,244 $

(13)
108

Note: As most of the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use the Company’s incremental borrowing rate based
on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company uses the
incremental borrowing rate on January 1, 2019 for operating leases that commenced prior to that date.
Future minimum rental payments under noncancellable leases are as follows (in thousands) at December 31, 2018:
Year ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

Amount
$
4,672
4,204
4,177
4,286
4,153
7,731
$
29,223
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9. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

Leasehold improvements
Office equipment and furniture
Machinery and laboratory equipment
Software
Construction-in-progress

Useful Lives

March 31,

December 31,

(Years)

2019

2018

4-8
3-15
3-15
1-5
̶

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Fixed assets, net

$

$

10,217 $
1,289
3,438
3,960
202
19,106
(15,540)
3,566 $

10,187
1,529
3,247
3,831
45
18,839
(15,185)
3,654

Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets totaled $0.5 million and $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively. The construction-in-progress balance is related to costs of leasehold improvements not yet placed in
service and still under development. Unamortized computer software costs were $0.6 million and $0.7 million at March 31, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively. The amortization of computer software costs amounted to $0.1 million for each of the three
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
10. Goodwill
The Company’s goodwill relates to the 2010 acquisition of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited
liability company that was formed in April 2000. There were no changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for three months
ended March 31, 2019 and the year ended December 31, 2018.
11. Investment in MeiraGTx
On June 12, 2018, MeiraGTx completed its initial public offering (the “MeiraGTx IPO”) whereby it sold 5,000,000 shares
of common stock at $15.00 per share. MeiraGTx, a limited company under the laws of the Cayman Islands, is a clinical-stage
biotech company developing novel gene therapy treatments for a wide range of inherited and acquired disorders for which there
are no effective treatments available. The shares began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on June 7, 2018 under the
symbol “MGTX.”
Prior to the MeiraGTx IPO, for the period beginning January 1, 2018 through June 12, 2018, the Company recorded its
share of MeiraGTx’s net loss under the equity method of accounting of $1.2 million. The Company had no remaining basis in any
of the investments held in MeiraGTx prior to the MeiraGTx IPO. Upon completion of the MeiraGTx IPO, the Company’s
investment was diluted to a 13.0% ownership in MeiraGTx common stock and the Company no longer has the ability to exert
significant influence over MeiraGTx. The Company discontinued the equity method of accounting for the investment in MeiraGTx
on June 12, 2018 and determined the remaining investment to be an equity security accounted for in accordance with ASC 321 at
the date the investment no longer qualifies for the equity method of accounting. ASC 321 requires the investments to be recorded
at cost, less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical
or similar investment of the same issuer. As the Company’s investment in MeiraGTx common stock had a readily determinable
market value, the Company recorded an unrealized gain of $40.5 million in June 2018 related to the fair value of its ownership of
common stock of MeiraGTx. As of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company maintained a 10.7% and
12.9% ownership, respectively, in the common stock of MeiraGTx with a fair value of $60.9 million and $34.1 million,
respectively, recorded as a noncurrent investment in equity securities as depending on certain circumstances, the Company may, at
times, be deemed to be an affiliate of MeiraGTx. The Company has recorded an unrealized gain on the MeiraGTx common stock
investment of $26.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019. The investment in MeiraGTx is valued using Level 1
inputs which includes quoted prices in active markets for identicial assets in accordance with the fair value hierarchy (Note 6). The
Company has not realized any gains related to the investment in common stock of MeiraGTx.
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The Company was party to a TSA with MeiraGTx which expired in April 2018. Upon expiration of the TSA, the
Company continued to provide office space to MeiraGTx. On October 1, 2018, the Company and MeiraGTx entered into a
sublease agreement which is effective from October 1, 2018 for a period of two months and will automatically be renewed on a
monthly basis unless MeiraGTx provides 30 days prior written notice. The Company’s accounting for this sublease as a lessor was
not impacted by the adoption of the new leasing standard ASC 842 (Note 2). As part of the TSA and sublease agreement with
MeiraGTx, the Company recognized $0.1 million to other revenue during each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2018. The Company received cash payments of $0.1 million and $1.0 million million from MeiraGTx for the three months ended
March 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company has no amounts receivable from MeiraGTx at March 31, 2019 or December 31, 2018.
12. License Agreements
The Company has entered into several license agreements for products currently under development. The Company’s
license agreements are disclosed in the audited financial statements included in Item 8 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2018. Since the date of such financial statements, there have been no significant changes to
the Company’s license agreements.
Contingent License Agreement Milestones
The Company may be obligated in future periods to make additional payments, which would become due and payable
only upon the achievement of certain research and development, regulatory and approval milestones. The specific timing of such
milestones cannot be predicted and depends upon future discretionary clinical developments as well as regulatory agency actions
which cannot be predicted with certainty (including action which may never occur). These additional contingent milestone
payments aggregate to $215.9 million at March 31, 2019. Any payments made prior to FDA approval will be expensed as research
and development. Payments made after FDA approval will be capitalized.
Further, under the terms of certain licensing agreements, the Company may be obligated to pay commercial milestones
contingent upon the realization of sales revenues and sublicense revenues. Due to the long-range nature of such commercial
milestones, they are neither probable at this time nor predictable, and consequently are not included in the additional contingent
milestone payment amount.
13. Share-based Compensation
2016 Equity Incentive Plan
A total of 11,668,905 shares of the Company’s common stock were authorized and reserved for issuance under the
Company’s 2016 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2016 Equity Plan”) at December 31, 2018. This reserve automatically
increased to 16,194,138 on January 1, 2019 and will automatically increase each subsequent anniversary through January 1, 2025,
by an amount equal to the smaller of (a) 4% of the number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding on the immediately
preceding December 31, or (b) an amount determined by the board of directors. At March 31, 2019, there were options to purchase
an aggregate of 9,881,148 shares of common stock outstanding at a weighted average price of $6.05 per share under the 2016
Equity Plan.
Total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested options granted under the Company’s share-based
compensation plan was $6.2 million and $6.8 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. That expense is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.4 years and 1.5 years as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively. The Company recorded share-based compensation expense under the 2016 Equity Plan of $2.2 million and
$2.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding, not including performance stock options, at
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:
Options Outstanding

Balance, December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Balance, March 31, 2019
Options vested and exercisable, March 31, 2019

Number of
Options

9,764,539 $
529,870
—
(413,261)
9,881,148 $
5,797,504 $

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)

6.24
2.19
—
5.53
6.05
8.23

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (in
thousands)

7.84

$

—

8.06
7.19

$
$

546
—

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value calculated as the difference
between the fair value of the Company’s common stock at March 31, 2019 ($2.64 per share) and the exercise price, multiplied by
the related in-the-money options that would have been received by the option holders had they exercised their options at the end of
the period. This amount changes based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock. There were no options exercised during
the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
There were 529,870 stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2019 with a weighted-average
exercise price of $2.19. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, 5,077 stock options were granted with a
weighted‑average exercise price of $8.70. The fair value of each stock option award, not including performance stock options, was
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the assumptions noted in the following table:

Weighted average fair value of grants
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life (years)
Expected dividend yield

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

$1.50
76.32% - 77.73%
2.50% - 2.61%
6.0
0%

$2.20
72.94% - 74.54%
2.44% - 2.72%
5.9 - 6.0
0%

Performance Awards
On April 3, 2018 the Company granted 1,597,500 nonqualified performance-based stock options (“Performance
Options”) to certain executive officers (each, a “Grantee”) under the 2016 Equity Plan, which represents the maximum number of
Performance Options that may be earned if all three performance milestones (each, a “Performance Goal”) are achieved during the
three-year period following the Grant Date (the “Performance Period”). The Performance Options may be earned based on the
achievement of three separate Performance Goals related to the Company’s operating and research and development activities
during the Performance Period, subject to the Grantee’s employment through the achievement date. If no Performance Goals are
achieved during the Performance Period, the Performance Options will be forfeited. Each Performance Option was granted with an
exercise price of $4.06 per share and does not contain any voting rights. No other Performance Options have been granted under
the 2016 Equity Plan.
The weighted-average fair value of the Performance Options granted was $2.71 and was estimated at the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 2.67%, expected term of
6.0 years, expected volatility of 74.50%, and a dividend rate of 0%.
Compensation expense for the Performance Options is recognized on a straight-line basis over the awards’ requisite
service period. The Performance Options vest upon the satisfaction of both a service condition and the satisfaction of one or more
performance conditions, therefore the Company initially determined which outcomes are probable of achievement. The Company
believes that the three-year service condition (explicit service period) and all three performance conditions (implicit service
periods) will be satisfied. The requisite service period would be three years as that is the longest period of both the explicit service
period and the implicit service periods. The first two performance conditions were satisfied during 2018 and the Company expects
the third performance condition to be satisfied in the second quarter of 2019.
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During the year ended December 31, 2018, 307,500 Performance Options were forfeited. A total of 1,290,000
Performance Options are outstanding at both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 with an exercise price of $4.06 per share and
no instrinsinc value. The weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding Performance Options at March 31, 2019 is 9.0
years. At March 31, 2019, there was $1.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested Performance
Options which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years. No Performance Options have vested or
been exercised as of March 31, 2019. In April 2019, 286,668 Performance Options vested and became exercisable in accordance
with the terms of the awards.
Stock Appreciation Rights
A total of 835,000 stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) are outstanding at both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
with an exercise price of $3.64 per share and no intrinsic value. The weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding
SARs at March 31, 2019 is 8.7 years. Compensation expense for SARs is recognized on a straight-line basis over the awards’
requisite service period. At March 31, 2019, there was $1.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
SARs which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years. At both March 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, 278,335 SARs are vested and no SARs have been exercised.
2014 Long-term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
A total of 9,750 units have been granted under the LTIP as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. The LTIP is
payable upon the fair market value of the Company’s common stock exceeding 333% of the $6.00 grant price ($20.00) per share
prior to December 7, 2024. The holders of the LTIP have no right to demand a particular form of payment, and the Company
reserves the right to make payment in the form of cash or common stock. No LTIP awards are exercisable or have been exercised
at March 31, 2019.
2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
A total of 2,551,180 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2016 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, as amended (the “2016 ESPP”) at December 31, 2018. The Board elected not to increase the shares reserved for
issuance under the 2016 ESPP on January 1, 2019. No shares were issued under the 2016 ESPP during the three months ended
March 31, 2019. 32,273 shares were issued under the 2016 ESPP in April 2019. No meaningful compensation expense was
recognized for the ESPP during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
14. Accrued Expenses
Short-term accrued expenses at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 include the following (in thousands):
March 31,
2019
Commission payable
Compensation, benefits and severance
Research and development
Other
Total Accrued Expenses

$

$

2,395
1,616
4,774
2,495
11,280

$

$

December 31,
2018
2,395
3,848
4,847
2,418
13,508

Commission payable
During 2014 and 2015, the Company raised $40.4 million in gross proceeds, $37.2 million net of $3.2 million in
transaction costs, through the issuance of 3,514,859 Class E redeemable convertible units. Of the $3.2 million in transaction costs,
$2.4 million remains in accrued liabilities at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 relating to commissions to third parties for
Class E redeemable convertible raises during 2014 and 2015.
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Compensation, benefits and severance
Compensation, benefits and severance represent earned and unpaid employee wages and bonuses, as well as contractual
severance to be paid to former employees. At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, these accrued expenses totaled $1.6
million and $3.8 million, respectively. A separation agreement with Dr. Samuel D. Waksal, which expired on February 8, 2019,
contained severance payments and certain supplement conditional payments. The Company paid $0.1 million of severance
payments during the three months ended March 31, 2019 related to amounts accrued at December 31, 2018 and has not recorded
any expense related to these conditional payments as of March 31, 2019 as none of the conditional payments were met as of the
expiration of the agreement on February 8, 2019.
Research and development
The Company has contracts with third parties for the development of the Company’s product candidates. The timing of
the expenses varies depending upon the timing of initiation of clinical trials and enrollment of patients in clinical trials. At both
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, accrued research and development expenses for which the Company has not yet been
invoiced totaled $4.8 million.
15. Commitments
The Company’s commitments are disclosed in the audited financial statements included in Item 8 of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018. Since the date of such financial statements, there have been no
material changes to the Company’s commitments. Further, the Company’s commitments related to lease agreements are disclosed
in Note 8 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
16. Contingencies
The Company has been subject to various legal proceedings that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of its
business. Although the Company believes that the various proceedings brought against it have been without merit, and that it has
adequate product liability and other insurance to cover any claims, litigation is subject to many factors which are difficult to
predict and there can be no assurance that the Company will not incur material costs in the resolution of legal matters. Should the
Company determine that any future obligations will exist, the Company will record expense equal to the amount which is deemed
probable and estimable. The Company has no significant contingencies related to legal proceedings at March 31, 2019.
17. Related Party Transactions
The Company’s related party transactions are disclosed in the audited financial statements included in Item 8 of the
Annual Report on Form 10-K as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018. Since the date of such financial statements, there
have been no changes to the Company’s related party transactions other than those related to MeiraGTx (Note 11) .
18. Income Taxes
The Company files a consolidated tax return for Kadmon Holdings, Inc. and its domestic subsidiaries and the required
information returns for its international subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned. Where permitted, the Company files combined
state returns, but in some instances separate company returns for certain subsidiaries on a stand-alone basis are required.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company’s deferred tax assets relate
primarily to its net operating loss carryforwards and other balance sheet basis differences. In accordance with ASC 740, “Income
Taxes,” the Company recorded a valuation allowance to fully offset the gross deferred tax asset, because it is more likely than not
that the Company will not realize future benefits associated with these deferred tax assets at March 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018. There was no change in deferred tax liability for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and no income tax expense was
recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
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At December 31, 2018, the Company had unused federal and state net operating loss (“NOL”) carry-forwards of $460.3
million and $404.3 million, respectively, that may be applied against future taxable income. The Company has fully reserved the
deferred tax asset related to these NOL carry-forwards as reflected in our consolidated financial statements. These carry-forwards
expire at various dates through December 31, 2037, with the exception of approximately $44.0 million of federal net operating loss
carry-forwards which will not expire. The 20-year limitation was eliminated for losses generated after January 1, 2018, giving the
taxpayer the ability to carry forward losses indefinitely. However, NOL carry-forwards arising after January 1, 2018, will now be
limited to 80 percent of taxable income.
The use of the Company’s NOL carry-forwards may, however, be subject to limitations as a result of an ownership
change. A corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” in general, if a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity
ownership by one or more five-percent stockholders (or certain groups of non-five-percent stockholders) over a three-year period
occurs. After such an ownership change, the corporation’s use of its pre-change NOL carry-forwards and other pre-change tax
attributes to offset its post-change income is subject to an annual limitation determined by the equity value of the corporation on
the date the ownership change occurs multiplied by a rate determined monthly by the Internal Revenue Service. This rate for April
2019 equals 2.20 percent. The Company experienced ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code in 2010, 2011 and 2016,
but the Company did not reduce the gross deferred tax assets related to the NOL carry-forwards because the limitations do not
hinder the Company’s ability to potentially utilize all of the NOL carry-forwards.
The Company is likely to experience another ownership change in the future, possibly in 2019, as a result of shifts in
stock ownership due to any future equity offerings. A renewed ownership change will likely materially and substantially reduce the
Company’s ability to fully utilize the NOL carry-forwards and, consequently, will likely reduce the gross deferred tax assets related
to the NOL carry-forwards. If an ownership change occurred and if the Company earned net taxable income, our ability to use the
pre-change NOLs to offset U.S. federal taxable income would be subject to these limitations, which could potentially result in
increased future tax liability compared to the tax liability the Company would incur if the use of NOL carry-forwards were not so
limited.
19. Subsequent Events
ATM Offering
In April 2019, the Company sold 2,538,100 shares of common stock at a price of $2.70 per share through the ATM
Offering and received total gross proceeds of $6.9 million ($6.7 million net of $0.2 million of commissions payable). As of March
31, 2019, the Company had sold 13,778,705 shares of common stock under the ATM Offering.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with
our financial statements and related notes appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those in included in Item 8 of the
Annual Report on Form 10-K as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018. Some of the information contained in this
discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, including information with respect to our plans and
strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a
result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the “Risk Factors” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our
actual results could differ materially from the results described in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements contained in the
following discussion and analysis.
Overview
We are a fully integrated biopharmaceutical company engaged in the discovery, development and commercialization of
small molecules and biologics to address significant unmet medical needs, with a near-term clinical focus on autoimmune,
inflammatory and fibrotic diseases. Our team, which has a proven track record of successful drug development and
commercialization, identifies and develops novel candidates from our small molecule and biologics platforms as well as develops
our in-licensed product candidates. By retaining global commercial rights to our lead product candidates, we believe that we have
the ability to progress these candidates ourselves while maintaining flexibility for commercial and licensing arrangements. We
expect to continue to progress our clinical candidates and have further clinical trial data to report throughout 2019.
Our operations to date have been focused on developing first-in-class innovative therapies for indications with significant
unmet medical needs while leveraging our commercial infrastructure. We have never been profitable and had an accumulated
deficit of $266.6 million at March 31, 2019. Our net income was $3.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and our
net loss was $20.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018. The net income for the three months ended March 31, 2019
is driven by a $26.8 million non-cash unrealized gain related to our investment in MeiraGTx common stock.
Although our commercial business generates revenue, the revenues generated for the three months ended March 31, 2019
and 2018 are not significant, and we expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future and expect these losses to increase
as we continue our development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our additional product candidates, hire additional personnel
and initiate commercialization of any products that receive regulatory approval. We anticipate that our expenses will increase
substantially if, or as, we:
·

invest significantly to further develop our most advanced product candidates, including KD025 and tesevatinib;

·

initiate clinical trials of KD045 and KD033 and preclinical studies for our other product candidates;

·

seek regulatory approval for our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

·

continue to invest in our research discovery platforms;

·

seek to identify and develop additional product candidates;

·

scale up our sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure and product sourcing capabilities;

·

acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;

·

scale up our operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to
support our product development;

·

make milestone or other payments under any in-license agreements; or

·

maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio.

Components of Statement of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue is substantially derived from sales of our portfolio of products, including ribavirin and tetrabenazine. We also
recognize service revenue from our TSA and sublease agreement with MeiraGTx.
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Cost of Sales
Cost of sales consists of product costs, including ingredient costs and costs of contract manufacturers for production, and
shipping and handling of the products. Also included are costs related to quality release testing and stability testing of the products.
Other costs included in cost of sales are packaging costs, warehousing costs and certain allocated costs related to management,
facilities, and other expenses associated with supply chain logistics.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for the development of our product candidates,
which include:
·

license fees related to the license and collaboration agreements;

·

research and development-based employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, travel and other
compensation expenses;

·

expenses incurred under our agreements with contract research organizations, that conduct nonclinical and preclinical
studies, and clinical sites and consultants that conduct our clinical trials;

·

costs associated with regulatory filings;

·

costs of laboratory supplies and the acquisition, development and manufacture of preclinical and clinical study
materials and study drugs; and

·

allocated facility-related expenses.

Our research and development expenses may vary substantially from period to period based on the timing of our research
and development activities, including due to timing of initiation of clinical trials and enrollment of patients in clinical trials. We do
not allocate personnel-related costs, including share-based compensation, costs associated with broad technology platform
improvements and other indirect costs to specific product candidates. We do not allocate these costs to specific product candidates
because they are deployed across multiple overlapping projects under development, making it difficult to specifically and
accurately allocate such costs to a particular product candidate.
The successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain and subject to numerous risks including, but not
limited to:
·

the scope, rate of progress and expense of our research and development activities;

·

clinical trial results;

·

the scope, terms and timing of regulatory approvals;

·

the expense of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

·

the cost, timing and our ability to acquire sufficient clinical and commercial supplies for any product candidates and
products that we may develop; and

·

the risks disclosed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables could mean a significant change in the expenses and timing associated
with the development of any product candidate.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for non-research personnel,
including stock-based compensation and travel expenses for our employees in executive, operational, finance, legal, commercial,
regulatory, pharmacovigilance and human resource functions. Other selling, general and administrative expenses include facilityrelated costs, business insurance, director compensation, accounting and legal services, consulting costs and programs and
marketing costs to support the commercial business.
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Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) is comprised of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and
interest expense on our outstanding indebtedness, including non-cash interest related to the amortization of debt discount, debt
premium and deferred financing costs associated with our indebtedness. Our loss on equity method investment in MeiraGTx, as
well as gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of our common stock ownership in MeiraGTx are recognized in other
income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations. Changes in the fair value of financial instruments, based upon the
fair value of the underlying security at the end of each reporting period as calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, are also recognized in other income (expense). Such financial instruments include warrant liabilities for which cash
settlement features exist.
In addition, we operate in currencies other than the U.S. dollar to fund certain research and development and commercial
activities performed by various third-party vendors. The translation of these currencies into U.S. dollars results in foreign currency
gains or losses, depending on the change in value of these currencies against the U.S. dollar. These gains and losses are included in
other income (expense).
Income Taxes
We file a consolidated tax return for Kadmon Holdings, Inc. and its domestic subsidiaries and the required information
returns for its international subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned. Where permitted, we file combined state returns, but in
some instances separate company returns for certain subsidiaries on a stand alone basis are required. At both March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, we had a deferred tax liability of $0.4 million and a full valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”). The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reporting amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our financial
statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to investments, goodwill, fair
value of financial instruments, share-based compensation and accrued expenses. We base our estimates on historical experience,
known trends and events and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
Critical Accounting Policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in the audited financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2018 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 7, 2019 with the Securities Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Since the date of such financial statements, there have
been no changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies except for the change in lease accounting upon adoption of ASC
842 (See Note 2 and Note 8 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q).
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 of the notes to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for a summary of recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements.
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Results of Operations
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 and 2018

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

2018
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Revenues
Net sales
Other revenue
Total revenue
Cost of sales
Write‑down of inventory
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other expense (income)
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)
Deemed dividend on convertible preferred stock
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

$

$
$

67
174
241
31
—
210
14,991
7,946
22,937
(22,727)
(26,319)
—
3,592
515
3,077

$

$
$

274
159
433
199
147
87
9,780
8,250
18,030
(17,943)
2,498
—
(20,441)
490
(20,931)

Revenues
Total revenue decreased by 44.3%, or approximately $0.2 million, from $0.4 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2018 to $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019. The decrease in total revenue was primarily
attributable to the decline in sales of tetrabenazine from $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018 to less than $0.1
million for the three months ended March 31, 2019. Total revenue also included service and sublease revenue from MeiraGTx
of $0.1 million for each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
Cost of sales and write-down of inventory
Cost of sales was less than $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. We recognized $0.1 million of inventory write-downs during the three months ended March 31, 2018 of our
Ribasphere inventory based on our expectation that such inventory will not be sold prior to reaching its product expiration date.
There were no significant inventory write-downs recroded in the three months ended March 31, 2019.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses increased by 53.3%, or approximately $5.2 million, to $15.0 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 from $9.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018. The increase in research and
development expense for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2018, was
primarily related to development of the Company’s most advanced product candidate KD025, as well as the development
of KD045 and KD033.
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 3.7%, or approximately $0.3 million, to $7.9 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2019 from $8.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018. The decrease in selling, general
and administrative expense is primarily related to a decrease in legal and marketing costs for the three months ended March 31,
2019 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2018.
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Other (income) expense
The following table provides components of other (income) expense:

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

2018
(unaudited)

Interest expense
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount and premium
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Loss on equity method investment
Unrealized gain on equity securities
Interest income
Other expense
Other (income) expense

$

$

(in thousands)

837
95
224
—
(26,828)
(656)
9
(26,319)

$

$

951
514
(141)
1,242
—
(69)
1
2,498

For the three months ended March 31, 2019, other income consisted primarily of unrealized gains related to our
investment in MeiraGTx common stock of $26.8 million and interest income of $0.7 million, partially offset by a change in the fair
value of financial instruments of $0.2 million and interest expense and other costs related to our debt of $0.9 million.
For the three months ended March 31, 2018, other expense consisted primarily of interest expense and other costs related
to our debt of $1.5 million and a loss on equity method investment in MeiraGTx of $1.2 million, partially offset by interest income
of $0.1 million and a change in the fair value of financial instruments of $0.1 million.
Income taxes
No income tax expense was recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
Deemed dividend
We have 30,000 shares of 5% convertible preferred stock outstanding which accrue dividends at a rate of 5% and converts
into shares of our common stock at a 20% discount to the price of $12.00 per share of our common stock. We accrued dividends on
the 5% convertible preferred stock of $0.4 million for each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company
also calculated a deemed dividend of $0.1 million on the $0.4 million of accrued dividends for each of the three months ended
March 31, 2019 and 2018, which is a beneficial conversion feature. The stated liquidation preference of the 5% convertible
preferred stock totaled $33.0 million at March 31, 2019.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
We maintained cash and cash equivalents of $99.4 million at March 31, 2019. We had an accumulated deficit of $266.6
million and working capital of $77.1 million at March 31, 2019.We entered into a Sales Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
in August 2017 under which we may sell up to $40.0 million in shares of its common stock in one or more placements at
prevailing market prices for its common stock (the “ATM Offering”). Any such sales would be effected pursuant to our registration
statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-222364), declared effective by the SEC on January 10, 2018. In January 2019, we sold
13,778,705 shares of common stock at a weighted average price of $2.17 per share through the ATM Offering Program and
received total gross proceeds of $29.9 million ($29.0 million net of $0.9 million of commissions). In April, 2019, the Company
sold 2,538,100 shares of common stock at a price of $2.70 per share through the ATM Offering and received total gross proceeds
of $6.9 million ($6.7 million net of $0.2 million of commissions payable by us) (see Note 19 to our unaudited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q). Our existing cash and cash equivalents are
expected to enable us to advance our planned Phase 2 clinical studies for KD025 and advance certain of our other pipeline product
candidates and provide for other working capital purposes.
29

Table of Contents
Our plans include continuing to finance operations through the issuance of additional equity securities and increasing the
commercial portfolio through the development of the current pipeline or through strategic collaborations. Any transactions which
occur may contain covenants that restrict the ability of management to operate the business or may have rights, preferences or
privileges senior to the our common stock and may dilute our current stockholders.
Going Concern
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, which contemplate our continuation as a going concern. We have not established a source of
revenues sufficient to cover our operating costs, and as such, have been dependent on funding operations through the issuance of
debt and sale of equity securities. Since inception, we have experienced significant loses and incurred negative cash flows from
operations. We expect to incur further losses over the next several years as we develops our business. We have spent, and expect to
continue to spend, a substantial amount of funds in connection with implementing our business strategy, including our planned
product development efforts, preparation for our planned clinical trials, performance of clinical trials and our research and
discovery efforts.
Our cash and cash equivalents are not expected to be sufficient to enable us to meet our long-term expected plans,
including commercialization of clinical pipeline products, if approved, or initiation or completion of future registrational studies.
We have no commitments for any additional financing and may not be successful in our efforts to raise additional funds or achieve
profitable operations, and there can be no assurance that additional financing will be available to us on commercially acceptable
terms or at all. Any amounts raised will be used for further development of our product candidates, for marketing and promotion,
to secure additional property and equipment and for other working capital purposes.
If we are unable to obtain additional capital, our long-term business plan may not be accomplished and we may be forced
to curtail or cease operations. Further, the 2015 Credit Agreement contains certain developmental milestones that must be achieved
by December 31, 2019, which are considered to be outside of our control, as well as a minimum liquidty covenant. As such, if
achievement of the developmental milestones does not occur as anticipated by December 31, 2019 or we violate our minimum
liquidty covenant, we may need to use cash and cash equivalents to fund certain repayment commitments, as any such noncompliance could, under the remedies set forth in the 2015 Credit Agreement, trigger a termination of the Commitments (as
defined in the 2015 Credit Agreement) or a declaration by the Lender that the Loan (as defined in the 2015 Credit Agreement) be
due and payable in whole or part, together with any applicable fees and/or interest thereon. These factors individually and
collectively continue to raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial
statements do not include any adjustments or classifications that may result from the possible inability of us to continue as a going
concern
Sources of Liquidity
Since our inception through March 31, 2019, we have raised net proceeds from the issuance of equity and debt. At
March 31, 2019, we had $28.0 million of outstanding loans under the 2015 Credit Agreement that matures in July 2020. As of the
date hereof, we are not in default under the terms of the 2015 Credit Agreement. The Company maintained cash and cash
equivalents of $99.4 million at March 31, 2019.
The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents for each period set forth below:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

2018
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$
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(24,133)
(298)
29,049
4,618

$

$

(17,109)
(127)
(1,114)
(18,350)
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Operating Activities
The net cash used in operating activities was $24.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, and consisted
primarily of a net income of $3.6 million adjusted for $23.0 million in non-cash items, including unrealized gain on equity
securities of $26.8 million, offset by the depreciation and amortization of fixed assets and right-of-use lease assets of $1.3 million,
amortization of deferred financing costs, debt discount and debt premium of $0.1 million, change in fair value of financial
instruments of $0.2 million and share-based compensation expense of $2.2 million, as well as, a net decrease in operating assets
and liabilities of $4.7 million. Once adjusted for the non-cash items above, the cash used in operating activities for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 was primarily driven by selling, general and administrative expenses of $5.0 million and research
and development expense related to the advancement of our clinical product candidates of $14.4 million and interest paid on our
debt of $0.8 million.
The net cash used in operating activities was $17.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018, and consisted
primarily of a net loss of $20.4 million adjusted for $4.6 million in non-cash items, including the depreciation and amortization of
fixed assets of $0.3 million, amortization of deferred financing costs, debt discount and debt premium of $0.5 million, loss on
equity method investment of $1.2 million and share-based compensation expense of $2.6 million, as well as, a net decrease in
operating assets and liabilities of $1.4 million, primarily driven by a decrease of $1.1 million in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilities due to timing of payments for certain services. The net loss was primarily driven by selling, general
and administrative expenses of $8.3 million, research and development expense related to the advancement of our clinical product
candidates of $9.8 million and interest paid on our debt of $1.0 million.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 consisting of costs
related to leasehold improvements at our clinical office in Cambridge, MA and the purchase of laboratory equipment. Net cash
used in investing activities was $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018 consisting of costs related to the purchase
of property and equipment, primarily related to in‑house software.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2019 was $29.0 million, consisting
primarily of net proceeds from the issuance of common stock in our ATM Offering of $29.0 million. Net cash used in financing
activities for the three months ended March 31, 2018 was $1.1 million, consisting primarily of principal payments related to the
2015 Credit Agreement.
Future Funding Requirements
We expect our expenses to increase compared to prior periods in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as
we continue research and development, continue and initiate clinical trials and seek regulatory approvals for our product
candidates. In anticipation of regulatory approval for any of our product candidates we expect to incur significant precommercialization expenses related to product sales, marketing, distribution and manufacturing.
The expected use of our cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2019 represents our intentions based upon our current
plans and business conditions, which could change in the future as our plans and business conditions evolve. The amounts and
timing of our actual expenditures may vary significantly depending on numerous factors, including the progress of our
development, the status of, and results from, clinical trials, the potential need to conduct additional clinical trials to obtain approval
of our product candidates for all intended indications, as well as any additional collaborations that we may enter into with third
parties for our product candidates and any unforeseen cash needs. As a result, our management will retain broad discretion over the
allocation of our existing cash and cash equivalents. In addition, we anticipate the need to raise additional funds from the issuance
of additional equity, and our management will retain broad discretion over the allocation of those funds as well.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
There have been no material changes in our contractual obligations and commitments during the three months ended
March 31, 2019 from those set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
During the periods presented we did not have, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as
defined under the SEC rules.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Our market risks as of March 31, 2019 have not changed materially from those discussed in Item 7A of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Management’s Evaluation of our Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in
the reports that we file or submit under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is (1) recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated
to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
As of March 31, 2019, our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer have concluded based upon the evaluation described above that, as of March 31, 2019, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) occurred during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Please refer to Note 16 of the notes to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion related to our legal proceedings.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information contained elsewhere in this
report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our most recent Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, which could be materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition
or future results. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones we face. You should recognize that other significant risks and
uncertainties may arise in the future, which we cannot foresee at this time. Also, the risks that we now foresee might affect us to a
greater or different degree than expected. Certain risks and uncertainties, including ones that we currently deem immaterial or that
are similar to those faced by other companies in our industry or business in general, may also affect our business. If any of the risks
actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. There are no
material changes to the risk factors described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
None.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
None.
Item 6. Exhibits
The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the Exhibit Index, which is incorporated
herein by reference.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibit

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Kadmon Holdings, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-37841), filed with the SEC on August 1, 2016).
3.2 Certificate of Designations of Kadmon Holdings, Inc. creating the 5% Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-37841), filed with
the SEC on August 1, 2016).
3.3 Bylaws of Kadmon Holdings, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-37841), filed with the SEC on August 1, 2016).
10.1* Employment Agreement between Kadmon Corporation, LLC and Steven Meehan, dated effective as of February 8,
2019.
31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
32.1** Certifications of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** Certifications of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101* The following materials from the Kadmon Holdings, Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019,
formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31,
2019 and 2018, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018,
and (iv) Notes to the Financial Statements.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Date: May 9, 2019

By:

/s/ Harlan W. Waksal
Harlan W. Waksal
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 9, 2019

By:

/s/ Steven Meehan
Steven Meehan
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: May 9, 2019

By:

/s/ Kyle Carver
Kyle Carver
Principal Accounting Officer, Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 10.1
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This AGREEMENT, effective February 8, 2019 (the “Agreement”), is entered into between Kadmon Corporation, LLC, a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Steven Meehan, an individual with a residence at P.O. Box 493, Alpine, NJ 07620
(the “Employee”).
In consideration of the Employee’s employment by the Company, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
1.

2.
3.

Employment. The Employee shall be employed as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and shall have the
duties, responsibilities and authority as may from time to time be assigned to him by the Company's Chief Executive
Officer (the “CEO”) and/or and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Kadmon Holdings, Inc. (the Board”),
the Company’s parent company, that are consistent with such positions in a company of the size and nature of the
Company. The Employee will report to the CEO and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Kadmon
Holdings, Inc., the Company’s parent company. The Employee agrees while he is employed by the Company to devote his
full business time and attention to the activities of the Company and to not engage in other employment without the prior
written consent of the CEO. The Employee agrees to perform his duties hereunder diligently and to use his best efforts,
skill and ability to promote the interests of the Company and its affiliates.
Term. The term of the Employee’s employment under this Agreement shall commence effective as of the date hereof and
shall continue until terminated by either party in accordance with Section 5 hereof (the “Term”). Upon termination for any
reason, the Parties agree that the provisions of Sections 4 and 5 shall survive.
Compensation and Benefits
a) Base Salary. The Company shall initially pay the Employee a base salary at the rate of $500,000.00 per year
(the “Base Salary”). All salary shall be paid in accordance with the Company's regular payroll schedule and
subject to required withholdings.
b) Guaranteed Incentives: The Company will cause Kadmon Holdings, Inc., to grant to employee options to
purchase 400,000 shares of stock (the “Options”) of Kadmon Holdings, Inc., as soon as administratively
practicable following Employee’s start date (the “Grant Date”). The Options will vest in three (3) equal
tranches on each of the first three (3) anniversaries of the Grant Date. The issuance and vesting of the
Options will be contingent upon Employee’s continued employment with the Company and the Options will
be subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2016 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, as
amended from time to time, a copy of which will be made available to Employee as part of your onboarding
materials. The terms of any option awards granted to you during the term of your employment (including
but not limited to the Options described in this paragraph) will provide that if you are involuntarily
terminated without Cause (as defined in this Agreement) or if you terminate your employment with Good
Reason (as defined in this Agreement), then you will be eligible to exercise any options that have vested as
of your termination date until the earlier of: (i) the second anniversary of your termination date, and (ii) the
date the options would otherwise expire pursuant to their terms.
c) Discretionary Bonus. Employee will be eligible for a year-end target bonus of 40% of the Base Salary,
based on Company performance and Employee performance. The evaluation of both Company performance
and Employee performance will be at the discretion of the Board’s Compensation Committee, with input
from Dr. Waksal, and no guarantees relating to such cash bonus are being made by the Company. Employee
must be employed on the date the bonus is paid in order to receive any Discretionary Bonus described
hereunder.
d) Incentive Compensation. The Employee will be entitled to participate in the Company’s annual, year-end
incentive compensation plans, subject to the terms of such plans. The decision as to the amounts of any
incentive compensation, including grants of equity, to be awarded shall be made by the Company, but in any
event shall be consistent in type and amount as are given to other members of executive management
generally.

e)

4.

Benefits. The Employee will be entitled to coverage under or participation in all benefit plans provided to
members of executive management of the Company. The Company may, in its sole discretion, at any time
amend or terminate its benefit plans. The Employee shall be entitled to four weeks of paid vacation per
calendar year, to be accrued and used in accordance with the Company's then-current vacation policies.
Covenants
a) Return of Documents. Immediately upon the Company’s request or promptly upon the end of the
Employee’s employment, for whatever reason, the Employee shall deliver to the Company any property of
the Company or any of its affiliates (including, but not limited to, documents prepared or made by the
Employee) which may be in the Employee's possession, including, but not limited to, materials, memoranda,
notes, records, reports, designs, sketches, plans, programs, printouts, or other documents as well as all copies
thereof and files related thereto.
b) Confidentiality. The Employee agrees to hold all Proprietary Information (as defined below) in strict
confidence during the term of and following the Employee’s employment under this Agreement.
“Proprietary Information” includes, by way of example but without limitation, the following information
relating to the Company or any of its affiliates or any customer, client or business partner of the Company or
any of its affiliates:
i. working methods and operations, methodologies, marketing plans and strategies (including internal
and external growth strategies), sales and financial reports, customer lists, trade secrets,
copyrightable materials, patentable materials, programs, processes, plans, product ideas, techniques,
designs, models, formulas, data, know-how and other information used in research, developmental,
marketing, sales, and operational activities; and
ii. any commercial or technical information, improvements, or things which may be communicated to
the Employee or which the Employee may learn by virtue of his employment by the Company, or
of which the Employee may have gained knowledge, or discovered, invented, or perfected while
employed by the Company, including without limitation any ideas or processes relating to the
development, operation, or improvement of any software or other program, product or proposed
product, tool, article, or process sold, licensed, distributed, maintained or contemplated by the
Company or any of its affiliates (or their respective customers).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Proprietary Information shall not include information that (a) is publicly
known as of the date of this Agreement or (b) becomes publicly known after the date of this Agreement
other than by means in violation of this Agreement or another obligation of confidentiality.
The Employee agrees never, directly or indirectly, to disclose or otherwise communicate to any person, firm,
corporation, or other entity or to use for himself (except while the Employee is employed by the Company,
and solely in pursuit of his activities as an employee of the Company), any Proprietary Information.
c)

Developments. The Employee agrees to disclose promptly to the Company any and all Developments (as
defined below) which are made, invented, developed, or discovered by the Employee, either singly or jointly
with others, in the course of his employment by the Company, including upon termination of such
employment. The Employee also agrees that such Developments are works made for hire and are or shall
become the exclusive property of the Company, and that he hereby relinquishes and assigns any and all
intellectual property rights and or other rights in the Developments to the Company, including, by way of
example, but without limitation, rights of identification or authorship and rights of approval with respect to
modifications and limitations on subsequent modifications. In order to effectuate ownership by the Company
when necessary, the Employee agrees, without further consideration:
i. to immediately upon the Company’s request execute all documents and make all assignments
necessary to vest title to such Developments in the Company;

ii. to assist the Company in any reasonable manner to obtain for the benefit of the Company any
patents or copyright applications on such Developments, in any and all countries; and
iii. to execute when requested any and all patent and copyright applications and any other lawful
documents deemed necessary by the Company to carry out the purposes of this Agreement.
“Developments” include, by way of example but without limitation, the following: any and all inventions,
improvements, discoveries, developments, results of research, or useful ideas, whether or not patentable,
which relate in any manner to any products, work, or other business or proposed business of the Company or
one of its affiliates or any customer, client or business partner of the Company or one of its affiliates, or to
any process, apparatus, formulas, equipment, or article worked on in connection with the Employee's
employment by the Company.
5.

Termination
a) Death or Disability. The Employee’s employment hereunder shall terminate immediately upon his death or
upon 30 days written notice by the Company to the Employee that the Employee's employment has been
terminated due to the Employee's Disability. For the purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean
upon the earlier of: (i) the date Employee becomes entitled to receive disability benefits under the
Company's long-term disability plan; or (ii) the determination by the CEO that the Employee is physically or
mentally incapacitated or impaired and has been unable, for a period of at least 90 consecutive days, to
perform the duties and responsibilities contemplated under this Agreement, even with a reasonable
accommodation.
b) Termination for Cause. Employment with the Company may be terminated by the CEO or the Board
immediately for Cause. In this context the term “Cause” shall mean: (i) the Employee’s conviction of a
felony; (ii) any material misconduct by the Employee with respect to the Company, any affiliate of the
Company, or any of their respective employees, customers, clients, business partners or suppliers; (iii) in
carrying out his/her duties and responsibilities set forth herein, refusal, neglect or failure by the Employee to
carry out, in all material respects, the legal instructions of the CEO or the Board’s Audit Committee; (iv) a
material breach by the Employee of any term or provision of Section 4 of this Agreement; or (v) the
Employee’s failure to comply in all material with the internal policies or procedures of the Company or its
affiliates, or any laws or regulations applicable to Employee’s conduct as an employee of the Company;
which in each case of clauses (ii) to (v) above, remains uncured by the Employee for 5 days following
receipt by the Employee of written notice of same, which notice shall include reasonable detail as to the
nature of the potential resulting Cause. However, no notice and opportunity to cure shall be required in the
event of conduct by the Employee that the Company reasonably believes cannot be adequately cured.
c) Termination Without Cause. Employment may be terminated by the CEO or the Board without Cause, at
any time, without prior notice.
d) Resignation by Employee for Good Reason. Employee may resign from his employment hereunder at any
time if Employee has Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Good Reason” shall mean:
(i) any material diminution in Employee’s duties or responsibilities hereunder (other than in connection with
a termination of Employee’s employment), which remains uncured by the Company for 5 days following
receipt by the Company of written notice of same, which notice shall include reasonable detail as to the
nature of the potential resulting Good Reason; (ii) a reduction in Employee’s Base Salary; (iii) a relocation
of the Company’s principal place of business outside New York City; or (iv) a material diminution in the
authority, duties, or responsibilities of the supervisor to whom Employee is required to report.
e) Resignation by Employee Without Good Reason. Employee may resign from his employment hereunder
without Good Reason at any time upon written notice to the Company. Following any such notice, the
Company may reduce or remove any and all of Employee’s duties, authority or responsibilities with the
Company, and any such reduction or removal shall not constitute Good Reason.

f)

6.

Effect of Termination. In the event that the Employee’s employment hereunder is terminated for Cause, or
Employee resigns without Good Reason, the Company shall pay the Employee his Base Salary through the
date of such termination. In the event that the Employee's employment hereunder is terminated without
Cause, or Employee resigns with Good Reason, and provided that Employee first signs and does not revoke
any portion of a comprehensive release of claims against the Company, and its current and former affiliated
entities and individuals, in a form drafted by the Company, the Company shall pay the Employee severance
in an amount equal to his Base Salary and an amount equal to his previous year’s Discretionary Bonus
(collectively, the “Severance”). This Severance will be combined together and paid in in equal installments,
and in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll schedule, and subject to required withholdings, over
the one-year period following the expiration of a seven-day revocation period set forth in the comprehensive
release of claims, provided, however, that in the event Employee becomes employed by another entity or
individual (and not self-employed) during that one-year period, he will so notify the Company, and such
employment will end the Company’s obligation to make any further severance payments. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, in the event that Employee’s employment terminates before the first anniversary of
Employee’s start date under circumstances that would entitle Employee to severance under the preceding
sentence, the amount of the Discretionary Bonus portion of the Severance payable under this Section 5(f)
shall be equal to the target annual bonus amount for 2019.
g) Benefits. Subject to Employee’s timely election of continuation coverage under COBRA, the Company will
continue payment of Employee’s medical, dental and vision insurance coverage during the twelve (12)
month period following the first day of the month following the date of termination or resignation (the
“Coverage Period”) to the same extent that the Company paid for such coverage immediately prior to the
date of termination or resignation, in a manner intended to avoid any excise tax under Section 4980D of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), subject to the eligibility requirements and other
terms and conditions of such insurance coverage, provided that Employee first signs and does not revoke
any portion of a comprehensive release of claims against the Company, and its current and former affiliated
entities and individuals, in a form drafted by the Company, and provided further that in the event Employee
becomes employed by another entity or individual (and not self-employed) during that one-year period, he
will so notify the Company, and such employment will end the Company’s obligation to continued payments
for medical, dental, and vision insurance coverage. If Employee fails to sign or revokes any portion of a
comprehensive release of claims against the Company, the Employee's accrual of or participation in plans
providing for medical, dental and vision insurance benefits will cease at the end of the Term, unless
Employee properly and timely elects to continue medical, dental and vision insurance coverage in
accordance with the continuation requirements of COBRA and pays the applicable premiums for such
coverage. The Employee will not receive, as part of his termination pay pursuant to this Section 5, any
payment or other compensation for any sick leave or other leave unused on the date the notice of termination
or resignation is given, (or on the date the termination or resignation is otherwise effective in the event no
notice is required), under this Agreement.
Miscellaneous
a) Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of New York without regard to
the conflict of laws principles.
b) Arbitration. The parties agree that any dispute arising under or concerning this Agreement, the Employee’s
employment by the Company or any related entity, or any compensation or benefits claimed by the
Employee, shall be resolved solely in a confidential proceeding before a single arbitrator in New York, New
York. The arbitration will be conducted pursuant to the then current rules of the American Arbitration
Association for the resolution of employment disputes. Neither party will bring any publicity to the
arbitration, including, without limitation, the existence of a dispute, any claims or defenses raised in
arbitration, or the arbitration award. However, either party may bring an action to enforce an arbitration
award in the event the other party refuses to comply with the arbitration award within thirty (30) days
following its issuance.
c) Notices. All notices, consents, waivers, and other communications under this Agreement must be in writing
and will be deemed to have been duly given when (i) delivered by hand (with written confirmation of
receipt), (ii) sent by facsimile (with written confirmation of receipt), provided that a

copy is mailed by registered mail, return receipt requested, or (iii) when received by the addressee, if sent by
a nationally recognized overnight delivery service (receipt requested), in each case to the appropriate
addresses and facsimile numbers of the Company and Employee as set forth in the records of the Company.
d) Section Headings: Construction. The headings of sections in this Agreement are provided for convenience
only and will not affect its construction or interpretation. All references to “Section” or “Sections” refer to
the corresponding Section or Sections of this Agreement unless otherwise specified. All words used in this
Agreement will be construed to be of such gender or number as the circumstances require. Unless otherwise
expressly provided, the word “including” does not limit the preceding words or terms.
e) Amendments; Entire Agreement; Successors and Assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any term hereof
may be changed, waived, discharged, or terminated orally, but only by an instrument in writing signed by
the party against which enforcement of such change, waiver, discharge or termination is sought. This
Agreement embodies the entire agreement and the understanding among the parties, superseding all prior
agreements and understandings relating to the subject matter hereof, and is not assignable by the
Employee. Employee understands and agrees that this Agreement shall govern his employment with the
Company and its related entities, and shall supersede in its entirety any other form of agreement, written or
oral, relating to Employee’s employment with the Company. If any provision of this Agreement shall be
held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, such provision shall be modified to the minimum
extent necessary to make it legal, valid and enforceable, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the
remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Company's
successors and assigns.
f) Non-Disparagement. The Company’s officers and directors and the Employee agree that, during the Term
and thereafter (including following the end of Employee’s employment for any reason) neither party will
make any statements or representations, or otherwise communicate, directly or indirectly, in writing, orally,
or otherwise, or take any action that may, directly or indirectly, disparage the other party.
g) Representations. The Employee represents and warrants to the Company that (i) the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement by the Employee does not and will not conflict with, breach, violate or cause
a default under any contract, agreement, instrument, order, judgment or decree to which the Employee is a
party or by which the Employee is bound, (ii) the Employee has had the opportunity to review the covenants
contained in Section 4 with counsel, that said covenants were the result of negotiation between the parties,
and that he desires to be bound by the covenants in order to obtain the compensation provided by this
Agreement and (iii) upon the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, this Agreement
shall be the valid and binding obligation of the Employee, enforceable in accordance with its terms. The
Company represents and warrants to the Employee that (i) the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement by the Company does not and will not conflict with, breach, violate or cause a default under any
its organizational documents or any contract, agreement, instrument, order, judgment or decree to which the
Company is a party or by which the Company is bound, (ii) this Agreement has been duly authorized by all
requisite limited liability company action on the part of the Company and (iii) upon the execution and
delivery of this Agreement by the Employee, this Agreement shall be the valid and binding obligation of the
Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
h) Confidentiality of this Agreement. The Employee agrees to keep confidential the terms of this Agreement.
This provision does not prohibit the Employee from providing this information to the Employee’s attorneys
or accountants for purposes of obtaining legal or tax advice or as required by law; provided that such
persons are informed of the confidential nature of such information and the Employee shall be responsible
for breaches of the confidentiality restrictions contained herein by such persons as if the Employee had
breached such restrictions. The Company shall not disclose the terms of this Agreement except as necessary
in the ordinary course of its business, as required by law or as required by any governmental or quasigovernmental entity or any self-regulatory organization.
i) Cooperation. Following termination of employment with the Company for any reason, the Employee shall
cooperate with the Company, as requested by the Company, to effect a transition of the

Employee's responsibilities and to ensure that the Company is aware of all matters being handled by the
Employee.
j)

Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to
be an original and both of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
k) Section 409A and Taxes. All forms of compensation paid to you by the Company, including any payments
made pursuant to this Agreement, are subject to reduction (or payment by you, to the extent that additional
amounts are required) to reflect applicable withholding and payroll taxes and other applicable deductions.
You agree that the Company does not have a duty to design its compensation policies in a manner that
minimizes your tax liabilities, and you will not make any claim against the Company related to tax liabilities
arising from your compensation. The payments and benefits under this Agreement are intended, and will be
construed, to be exempt from or comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (“Section 409A”); provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed or
interpreted to transfer any liability for any tax (including a tax or penalty due as a result of a failure to
comply with Section 409A) from you to the Company or to any other entity or person. Any payment to you
under this Agreement that is subject to Section 409A and that is contingent on a termination of employment
is contingent on a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A. If, upon separation from
service, you are a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A, any payment under this
Agreement that is subject to Section 409A and triggered by a separation from service and would otherwise
be paid within six months after your separation from service will instead be paid in the seventh month
following your separation from service or, if earlier, upon your death (to the extent required by Section
409A(a)(2)(B)(i)). Any taxable reimbursement due under the terms of this Agreement shall be paid no later
than December 31 of the year after the year in which the expense is incurred, and all taxable reimbursements
and in-kind benefits shall be provided in accordance with Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv). The parties agree
that if necessary to avoid non-compliance with Section 409A, they will cooperate in good faith to modify
the terms of this Agreement or any applicable equity award, provided, that such modification shall endeavor
to maintain the economic intent of this Agreement or any such equity award.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
KADMON CORPORATION, LLC
By:

/s/ Harlan W. Waksal
Harlan W. Waksal
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 8, 2019

/s/ Steven Meehan
Steven Meehan
Date: February 8, 2019

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Harlan W. Waksal, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kadmon Holdings, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and
5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Dated: May 9, 2019

/s/ Harlan W. Waksal
Harlan W. Waksal
President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Steven Meehan, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kadmon Holdings, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and
5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Dated: May 9, 2019

/s/ Steven Meehan
Steven Meehan
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kadmon Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended
March 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Harlan
W. Waksal, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to
his knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
A signed original of this written statement has been provided to Kadmon Holdings, Inc. and will be retained by Kadmon
Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
Dated: May 9, 2019

/s/ Harlan W. Waksal
Harlan W. Waksal
President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kadmon Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended
March 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Steven
Meehan, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
that to his knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
A signed original of this written statement has been provided to Kadmon Holdings, Inc. and will be retained by Kadmon
Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
Dated: May 9, 2019

/s/ Steven Meehan
Steven Meehan
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

